NO. S222996

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

---

MARK LAFFITTE, *et al.*,

*Plaintiffs and Respondents,*

vs.

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL, INC., *et al.*,

*Defendants and Respondents,*

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

MAY 27 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk  

---

Deputy

DAVID BRENNAN,

*Plaintiff and Appellant.*

---

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal,  
Second Appellate District, Div. Seven, No. B249253;

Los Angeles Superior Court, Stanley Mosk Courthouse, Case No. BC 321317  
[related to BC 455499 and BC 377930],  
Hon. Mary H. Strobel, Presiding Judge, Dept. 32

---

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

LAWRENCE W. SCHONBRUN (SB #54519)

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

The issue certified for review is "Does this Court's seminal decision in *Serrano v. Priest (Serrano III)*, 20 Cal.3d 25 [141 Cal.Rptr. 315] (Oct. 4, 1977), permit a trial court to anchor its calculation of a reasonable attorney's fees award in a class action on a percentage of the common fund recovered?"

## **INTRODUCTION**

As this brief will make clear, the answer to the question posed by the Court is clearly "No."

The essential problem this Court confronted in 1977 was excessive attorneys' fee awards. As the First Appellate District's *Lealao* court explained, *Serrano III*'s purpose was to correct the problem of attorneys' fee awards that were "excessive and unrelated to the work actually performed by counsel." *Lealao v. Beneficial California, Inc.*, 82 Cal.App.4th 19, 28 n.2 [97 Cal.Rptr.2d 797] (1st App. Dist. July 10, 2000) (citation omitted).

In 1977, the lodestar approach and the percentage-of-the-recovery approach were radically different methodologies. Almost forty years later – and many thousands of class actions later – the lodestar has been morphed into a surrogate for a desired percentage-of-the-recovery fee. Not only defendants but trial and appellate courts as well have acquiesced to this rejection of *Serrano III* jurisprudence.

Appellant Class Member Brennan (hereinafter "Class Member Brennan") respectfully suggests that now, nearly four decades later, this Court should focus on the ending point as well as the starting point of the fee calculation process.

The *Laffitte* case presents a critical test for this state's judiciary. Will this Court:

1. Recognize that the class action fee award process – the lodestar as well as the percentage-of-the-recovery approaches – have been reshaped since *Serrano III* to promote lawyers' financial interests at the expense of class members?

2. Institute a fee award process that ensures that attorneys' fee requests are evaluated according to *Serrano III* standards?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On January 10, 2004, Plaintiff Mark Laffitte filed a class action complaint in the Los Angeles Superior Court against Defendant Robert Half International, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and related companies (No. BC 321317).

The complaint alleged that class members were misclassified as exempt employees and alleged the following breaches of their rights: (i) failure to pay statutorily mandated wages; (ii) failure to provide adequate meal periods (Premium Wages); (iii) failure to provide adequate rest breaks (Premium Wages); (iv) failure to furnish timely and accurate wage statements, and (v) penalties. It alleged that the misclassifications were violations of California Labor Code, § 203; California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, *et seq.* (Unfair Competition Law); California Labor Code §§ 2698, *et seq.* (Private Attorneys General Act of 2004); Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, *et seq.*; and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001, *et seq.*

Plaintiff Van Williamson filed a class action complaint against the same Defendants, *Williamson v. Robert Half International Inc., et al.* (BC 377930) in September 2007. In February 2011, Plaintiff Isabel Apolinario filed a class action complaint against Defendants, asserting the same claims at issue in the *Laffitte* action, but on behalf of a class of staffing professionals employed after February 23, 2007 (BC 455499). In March 2011, the court found the *Laffitte* action related to the *Apolinario* action. In September 2012, the court found the *Laffitte* case and the *Apolinario* case related to the *Williamson* action.

On January 28, 2013, in response to a Notice of Class Action Settlement (Appellant's Appendix ("AA") at 1) of the above-referenced actions, Class Member David Brennan filed his Objection (AA 7) and appeared at the March 22, 2013, and April 10, 2013, fairness hearings to present his objections before the trial court (see Argument III, pages 37-42, *infra*).

On April 10, 2013, the trial court entered an Order Granting Final Approval of Class Action Settlement and Judgment Thereon (AA 188), which granted Class Counsel \$6,333,333.33 (33-1/3% of the gross settlement amount) in attorneys' fees and \$127,304.08 in litigation expenses (AA 191:23, 27). Said Order and Judgment finally disposed of all issues between the parties. (California Rules of Court, Rules 8.100(a) and 8.204(a)(2)(B), and Code of Civil Procedure §§ 901 and 904.)

On June 10, 2013, Brennan filed a timely Notice of Appeal (AA 195) to the final Order and Judgment.

Appellate briefs were thereafter filed in the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District; oral argument took place on October 2, 2014, and on October 29, 2014, the appellate court issued its subsequently published opinion, *Laffitte v. Robert Half Int'l, Inc., et al.; David Brennan, Plaintiff and Appellant*, No. B249253, 2014 Cal.App. LEXIS 1059 (2d App. Dist., Div. 7, Oct. 29, 2014) (hereinafter "*Laffitte* decision").

A Petition for Review was filed in this Court on December 23, 2014, and granted on February 25, 2015.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

This class action involves a wage and hour dispute by employees of Robert Half International, Inc.

In October 2012, the court entered an Order in the related *Laffitte*, *Apolinario*, and *Williamson* actions, granting Plaintiffs and Defendants' joint motion for preliminary approval of the settlement and conditional certification of the settlement class defined as:

All persons who are or were employed in California as exempt "Staffing Professionals" ... at any time from September 10, 2000 through the date of Preliminary Approval of the Settlement [October 19, 2012].

The settlement created a common fund of \$19 million. The settlement agreement negotiated between Class Counsel and Defendants reads:

Class Counsel will apply to the Court for an award of not more than \$6,333,333.33 (33.33%) of the Gross Settlement Amount)...

(Respondents' Appendix ("RA"), Vol. 1, Tab 6 at 72, ¶ III.C.2.)

The amended settlement agreement also included a "clear sailing" provision stating that class counsel would apply for their attorneys' fees "and Robert Half would not oppose their request."

*Laffitte* decision, *supra*, 2014 Cal.App. 1059, at \*4-\*5 (footnote omitted).

On January 28, 2013, in response to receipt of the Notice of Class Action Settlement (AA 1), Class Member David Brennan filed his Objection (AA 7), and a supplementary objection on April 8, 2013 (AA 174).

Fairness hearings were held on March 22 and April 10, 2013. (Rep. Tx. on Appeal (hereinafter "RT"), 3/22/13 and 4/10/13 hr'gs.)

On April 10, 2013, the trial court approved the settlement and awarded Class Counsel \$6,333,333.33 (or 33.33% of the class's settlement fund). (AA 191.)

On June 10, 2013, Brennan appealed the trial court's Order Granting Final Approval of Class Action Settlement and Judgment Thereon to the Second District Court of Appeal. (AA 195.)

On October 29, 2014, the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District issued its unpublished opinion, overruling Brennan's objections and affirming the trial court's award of 33-1/3 percent of the class's recovery as a reasonable attorneys' fee to Class Counsel.

On November 21, 2014, after a request for publication from the Consumer Attorneys of California,<sup>1</sup> the Second District issued an order that modified its opinion and certified it for publication, with no change in judgment (see *Laffitte* decision, *supra*). The Second District's decision became final on November 28, 2014.

A Petition for Review was filed in the California Supreme Court on December 23, 2014. Review was granted on February 25, 2015.

---

<sup>1</sup> A professional association of attorneys (formerly California Trial Lawyers Association), [www.caoc.org](http://www.caoc.org).



## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **THIS COURT'S *SERRANO III* DECISION DOES NOT PERMIT CALIFORNIA TRIAL COURTS TO CALCULATE AN AWARD OF REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES ANCHORED TO THE PERCENTAGE-OF-THE-RECOVERY APPROACH**

##### **A. *Serrano III* Clearly Holds That Judicial Calculations of Reasonable Attorneys' Fees Must Start with the Lodestar.**

No reasonable reading of *Serrano III* would permit an attorneys' fee award in a class action to be anchored to the percentage of the common fund, and an extensive body of case law as well as public policy supports this position.

##### 1. *Serrano III* states:

"The starting point of every fee award, ... must be a calculation of the attorney's services in terms of the time he has expended on the case."

*Serrano III*, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23 (emphasis added), citing *City of Detroit v. Grinnell Corp.* 495 F.2d 448, 470 (2d Cir. Mar. 13, 1974).

The language of *Serrano III* clearly states "every fee award." The language is all encompassing. It creates no exception for attorneys' fees awarded from class action common funds. The *Laffitte* decision, however, implies that "every" applies to fee-shifting settlements and not common recoveries, and that *Serrano III* supports that interpretation.

The Supreme Court in *Serrano* even recognized the viability of the "percentage of the common fund" method.

*Laffitte* decision, *supra*, 2014 Cal.App. LEXIS 1059, at \*31 n.8.

In so arguing, *Laffitte* conflates the common fund doctrine exception to the American Rule with a so-called "percentage-of-the-common-fund method."

2. *Serrano III* states:

"Anchoring the analysis to this concept [calculation of the attorneys' services in terms of time expended on the case] is the only way of approaching the problem that can claim objectivity, a claim which is obviously vital to the prestige of the bar and the courts."

*Serrano III, supra*,, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23, *citing City of Detroit v. Grinnell, supra*, 495 F.2d at 470 (emphasis added).

The language of *Serrano III* makes it clear that the lodestar is the only permissible starting point. The language is exclusive. It says nothing about the percentage-of-the-recovery approach anchoring a judicial award of reasonable attorneys' fees.

3. *Serrano III* states:

Fundamental to its [the trial court's] determination – and properly so – was a careful compilation of the time spent and reasonable hourly compensation of each attorney ... involved in the presentation of the case.

*Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 48 (emphasis added; footnote omitted).

The *Serrano III* opinion states three times in three different ways its instruction on the exclusivity of the lodestar approach as the anchor for judicial awards of a reasonable attorneys'

fee. There is no language in *Serrano III* that permits an award of a reasonable attorneys' fee anchored to a percentage of the class's common fund recovery.

4. Not only does *Serrano III* make no reference to the use of the percentage-of-the-recovery approach, but the legal authorities it relies upon specifically reject the use of a percentage-of-the-recovery methodology. The decision relies upon two federal antitrust class actions, *City of Detroit v. Grinnell, supra*, and *Lindy Bros. Builders, Inc. of Phila. v. American Radiator & Standard Sanitary Corp., et al.*, 487 F.2d 161 (3d Cir. Oct. 31, 1973), that were fee awards from common funds. Both trial courts awarded reasonable attorneys' fees based upon an entitlement to an award under the common fund doctrine. In each case, the appellate court specifically rejected the trial court's use of a percentage-of-the-recovery methodology and held that a reasonable fee must be calculated using the lodestar method.

(a) [Rejection of a district court's award of 15% of a \$10 million settlement fund in *Grinnell*:]

Because we feel that this fee [the District Court's de facto reliance on the contingent fee approach] was excessive and displayed too much reliance upon the contingent fee syndrome ... we reverse and remand [the fee award....

*City of Detroit v. Grinnell, supra*, 495 F.2d at 468 (emphasis added).

(b) [Rejection of a district court's 20% of a \$26 million settlement fund in *Lindy*:]

In detailing the standards [under the equitable fund doctrine] that should guide the award of fees to attorneys successfully concluding class suits, by judgment or settlement, we must start from the purpose of the award: to compensate the attorney for the reasonable value of services benefiting the unrepresented claimant. Before the value of the attorney's services can be determined, the district court must ascertain just what were those services. To this end the first inquiry of the court should be into the hours spent by the attorneys – how many hours were spent in what manner by which attorneys.

*Lindy Bros., supra*, 487 F.2d at 167 (emphasis added).

The *Serrano III* court would not have relied on common fund cases that rejected the use of the percentage-of-the-recovery approach if it had intended to allow the percentage approach in common fund recoveries.

5. "[O]nce it is recognized that the court's role in equity is to provide just compensation for the attorney...."

*Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23 (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

This statement further undermines any argument that fees awarded from a common fund were not covered by *Serrano III*. *Serrano III* explains that its holding applies whenever a court is exercising its equitable powers. Because the common fund doctrine rests squarely upon a court's equitable powers, fees awarded from common funds fall under *Serrano III*.

6. The *Laffitte* decision never addresses why *Serrano III*'s rationale, justifying its lodestar requirement,

"[A] claim [of objectivity] which is obviously vital to the prestige of the bar and the courts."

(*Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23 (citation omitted) (emphasis added)),

does not apply as well to attorneys' fee awards under the common fund and substantial benefits doctrines. There is no reason why these rationales:

"[F]avorable public perception and the prestige of the legal profession and our system of justice...."

(*Jutkowitz v. Bourns, Inc., et al.*, 118 Cal.App.3d 102, 111 [173 Cal.Rptr. 248] (2d App. Dist. Apr. 16, 1981) (relying on *Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d 25) (emphasis added)),

would not also apply to the common fund and the substantial benefit doctrines.

7. Under *Serrano III*, attorneys' fees are compensation for legal services provided to the client. This Court's *Serrano III* decision rests on the principle that the awarding of a reasonable attorneys' fee compensates lawyers for providing "attorneys' services" to clients:

[T]he starting point ... must be a calculation of the attorney's services....

*Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 49 n.23 (emphasis added).

This principle is entirely distinguishable from the awarding of attorneys' fees based on a percentage of the class's monetary recovery.

**B. This Court Reaffirmed *Serrano III* in *Ketchum v. Moses*.**

This Court's decision in *Ketchum v. Moses*, 24 Cal.4th 1122 [104 Cal.Rptr.2d 377] (Feb. 26, 2001), supports the interpretation of *Serrano III* as requiring the lodestar as the first step and says nothing about limiting *Serrano III's* instructions to fee awards under fee-shifting statutes.

Under *Serrano III*, a court assessing attorney fees begins with a touchstone or lodestar figure, based on the "careful compilation of the time spent and reasonable hourly compensation of each attorney involved in the presentation of the case."

*Ketchum, supra*, 24 Cal.4th at 1131-32, *citing Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal.3d at 48 (emphasis added).

**C. Numerous Courts of Appeal over the Years Have Interpreted *Serrano III* As Requiring the Anchoring of a Judicial Award of a Reasonable Attorneys' Fee to the Lodestar.**

These cases make no mention of basing an award of reasonable attorneys' fees on the percentage-of-the-recovery approach, or limiting *Serrano III's* instructions to an award under fee-shifting statutes. Indeed, other than *Laffitte*, no reported case of which Class Member Brennan is aware holds that *Serrano III's* instructions only apply to fees sought under fee-shifting statutes.

1. *Jutkowitz v. Bourns, Inc., et al., supra*, holds that under *Serrano III*, not only must the lodestar approach be the first step in the calculation, but that percentage-based contingent fee principles cannot be part of a judicial determination of a reasonable attorneys' fee.

Significantly, in none of the "common fund" cases, whether class actions or nonclass actions ... is there any suggestion that *the size of the fund controls the determination of what is adequate compensation*.

....

In our opinion, the clear thrust of the holding in *Serrano, supra*, and the cases upon which that holding relied, is a rejection of any "contingent fee" principle in cases involving equitable compensation for lawyers in class actions or other types of representative suits.

*Jutkowitz, supra*, 118 Cal.App.3d at 110 (emphasis added).

2. *Salton Bay Marina, Inc., et al. v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.*, 172 Cal.App.3d 914 [218 Cal.Rptr. 839] (4th App. Dist. Sept. 30, 1985), rejects the use of a percentage-of-the-recovery approach as well:

"While the size of the class may affect the complexity of counsel's task and the size of the fund created may reflect the quality of his work, the correct amount of compensation cannot be arrived at objectively by simply taking a percentage of that fund."

*Id.* at 954, citing *Jutkowitz, supra*, 118 Cal.App.3d at 111 (emphasis added). *Accord, The People ex rel. Department of Transportation v. Yuki, et al.*, 31 Cal.App.4th 1754, 1769 [37 Cal.Rptr.2d 616] (6th App. Dist. Jan. 6, 1995).

On remand, the court should begin its analysis with a calculation of the attorney services in terms

of time the attorneys actually expended on the case. (*Serrano v. Priest* [*Serrano III*] ... 20 Cal.3d 25, 48, fn. 23.),

*Salton Bay, supra*, 172 Cal.App.3d at 957-58.

3. *Dunk v. Ford Motor Co., et al.*, 48 Cal.App.4th 1794 (4th App. Dist., Div. 3, Aug. 30, 1996), supports Class Member Brennan's contention that *Serrano III* rejected the anchoring of the judicial award of reasonable attorneys' fees to the percentage-of-the-recovery approach.

The award of attorney fees based on a percentage of a "common fund" recovery is of questionable validity in California...

....

Later cases have cast doubt on the use of the percentage method to determine attorney fees in California class actions.

*Dunk, supra*, 48 Cal.App.4th at 1809 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The *Dunk* decision also specifically ruled that the percentage-of-the-recovery approach was not available in common fund cases.

[Class Counsel claim that] \$1 million attorney fees ... were only a tiny percentage of the potential settlement value of over \$26 million. This argument suffers from two flaws: (1) The award of attorney fees based on a percentage of a "common fund" recovery is of questionable validity in California....

*Ibid.* at 1809 (emphasis added).



4. *Lealao, supra*, supports Class Member Brennan's contention that *Serrano III* held that the lodestar must be the anchoring analysis of a reasonable fee in common fund cases.

The primacy of the lodestar method in California was established in 1977 in *Serrano III, supra*, 20 Cal. 3d 25. Adopting the view at that time of the Second and Third Circuits, our Supreme Court declared: "The starting point of every fee award, once it is recognized that the court's role in equity is to provide just compensation for the attorney, must be a calculation of the attorney's services in terms of the time he has expended on the case."

....

The reason the fee analysis must be "anchored" to the time spent on the case and a reasonable hourly rate, the [*Serrano III*] court declared, is that "this concept is the only way of approaching the problem that can claim objectivity, a claim which is obviously vital to the prestige of the bar and the courts." [*Serrano III*, 20 Cal.3d at 48 n.23.] This statement, which arguably renders it questionable whether a pure percentage fee can be awarded even in a conventional common fund case (see *Dunk v. Ford Motor Co.* ... 48 Cal.App.4th at p. 1809)....

*Lealao, supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at 26 (citations omitted; emphasis added), and at 39 (emphasis added).

There is no support in *Lealao* for the holding in *Laffitte* that *Serrano III* does not apply to attorneys' fees awarded from common funds. The attorneys in *Lealao* had sought a fee award under all three exceptions to the American Rule.

The plaintiffs' counsel moved for reasonable attorney fees, resting not on statute but on the inherent equitable powers of the court. In support

of their claim they relied on three theories: the common fund, substantial benefit, and private attorney general exceptions to the general rule disfavoring fees.

(*Lealao, supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at 38 (footnote omitted; emphasis added).)

Nowhere does *Lealao* suggest that *Serrano III* only applies in fee-shifting circumstances.

**D. The Laffitte Decision Contradicts the Common Fund Doctrine.**

The awarding of reasonable attorneys' fees under the common fund doctrine is an exception to the American Rule.

The common fund cases ... are exceptions to the general rule applicable in this country that each party to the litigation must bear the expense of its own attorney fees.

(*City and County of San Francisco v. Sweet*, 12 Cal.4th 105, 115 [48 Cal.Rptr.2d 42] (Dec. 18, 1995) (emphasis added).)

The doctrine is based on the concept of *quantum meruit*.

An award of fees under the equitable common fund doctrine is "analogous to an action in quantum meruit: The individual seeking compensation has, by his actions, benefited another and seeks payment for the value of the service performed."

*Consumer Cause, Inc. v. Mrs. Gooch's Natural Food Market, Inc.*, 127 Cal.App.4th 387, 397 [25 Cal.Rptr.3d 514] (2d App. Dist. Mar. 7, 2005), *citing Serrano v. Unruh*, 32 Cal.3d 621, 628 [186 Cal.Rptr. 754] (Oct. 28, 1982) (emphasis added).

An attorneys' fee award based on a percentage of the amount of the settlement would violate the very principle – *quantum meruit* – upon which the common fund doctrine was established.

**E. The *Laffitte* Decision Contradicts Class Action Attorneys' Fee Jurisprudence.**

To allow attorneys' fee awards to be based on a percentage of the class settlement fund is inconsistent with California class action attorneys' fee jurisprudence:

Nonetheless, the plaintiffs' attorneys owe an ethical and fiduciary duty to their clients ... to limit fees to an amount that represents the value of the work done.

*Robbins v. Alibrandi*, 127 Cal.App.4th 438, 444 [25 Cal.Rptr.3d 387] (1st App. Dist., Div. 1, Feb. 4, 2005) (emphasis added).

**II.**

**ANCHORING THE FEE AWARD TO THE  
LODESTAR APPROACH IS NO LONGER THE  
CENTRAL ISSUE IN JUDICIAL AWARDS OF  
REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES FROM  
CLASS ACTION COMMON FUNDS**

**A. The Litigation Landscape Has Changed Since *Serrano III*.**

In 1977, the *Serrano III* court was presented with two public interest plaintiffs' law firms, who were each awarded \$400,000 in attorneys' fees by the trial court. They were subsequently awarded \$74,254 in connection with their services in defending the judgment on the appeal of *Serrano v. Priest, et al.* (*Serrano II*), 18 Cal.3d 728 [135 Cal.Rptr. 345] (Dec. 30, 1976), and \$39,560 in connection with

defending the fee award on appeal in *Serrano III*, *supra*, 20 Cal.3d 25 (Oct. 4, 1977).<sup>2</sup>

Attorneys' fees sought nowadays by plaintiffs' class action lawyers are vastly different in scale.<sup>3</sup>

**B. The Significance of the Choice of the Lodestar Approach Has Been Neutralized in the Context of the Modern Class Action.**

The distinction between the lodestar approach and the percentage-of-the-recovery approach as the starting point of a fee calculation was meaningful in 1977. In the intervening years since *Serrano III*, the approach at the start of fee setting is less important than the methodology one ends with. Whether used as a starting point or as a cross-check,<sup>4</sup> the lodestar analysis can be manipulated to produce a predetermined dollar amount that would have resulted from use of the percentage-of-recovery method. Thusly, a fee award can appear to be based on the lodestar approach, when it actually represents a backdoor method for awarding a *de facto* percentage fee.

Indeed, the warning of the *Yuki* court on this point has been disregarded:

[I]t is improper for the trial court to start with the amount of the contingency fee and then work backwards,

---

<sup>2</sup> See *Serrano v. Unruh*, 32 Cal.3d 621, 625 [186 Cal.Rptr. 754] (Oct. 28, 1982).

<sup>3</sup> The *Laffitte* litigation spanned eight and one-half years. (*Laffitte* decision, *supra*, 2014 Cal.App. LEXIS 1059, at \*11.) *Serrano III* covered a period of almost ten years, 1968 through 1977.

<sup>4</sup> As far as Class Member Brennan is aware, this Court has never accepted the concept of the lodestar as a cross-check.

applying the various other factors in order to justify that amount.

*The People ex rel. Dep't of Transp. v. Yuki, supra*,, 31 Cal.App.4th at 1771.

**C. Confirming the Lodestar Approach As the Starting Point Is Insufficient to Ensure Enforcement of *Serrano III's* Requirements.**

Sending this case back to the the trial court with the instruction to commence the fee award process with a lodestar calculation will not accomplish *Serrano III's* goals of (i) assuring the fee award is based on the work reasonably performed by class counsel; (ii) protecting the class's recovery against excessive attorneys' fee claims, and (iii) preserving the respect of the bench and the integrity of the bar.

The *Laffitte* decision is merely one example, albeit a good example, of how the lodestar instructions in *Serrano III* and *Ketchum* have been ignored. (See Argument III, pages 37-42, *infra*.)

1. Confirming the lodestar approach as the starting point will not address the *Lealao* decision.

*Lealao, supra*, held that *Serrano III* permits consideration of contingent fee percentage principles borrowed from traditional individual client tort litigation, while still using the lodestar as the starting point. It did so by holding that contingency fee percentages could be considered as part of the multiplier/enhancement phase of a lodestar analysis.

[A] trial court has discretion to adjust the basic lodestar through the application of a positive or

negative multiplier where necessary to ensure that the fee awarded is within the range of fees freely negotiated [as a percentage of the recovery] in the legal marketplace in comparable litigation.

*Lealao, supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at 49-50 (bracket added).

*Lealao's* introduction of contingent fee percentage principles countermands *Serrano III's* rejection of the percentage-of-the-recovery method. Importing contingent fee principles from traditional single client, single lawyer/law firm tort litigation into the multiplier phase of a lodestar analysis effectively eliminates the primacy of the lodestar method.

For this Court to reaffirm *Serrano III's* primacy of the lodestar but permit *Lealao's* percentage-of-the-recovery enhancement of the lodestar would nullify the significance of the lodestar as a starting point. *Lealao* allows a completed lodestar analysis to become the functional equivalent of a percentage-of-the-recovery fee. *Lealao* has rewritten *Serrano III's* rejection of percentages on the ground that:

As we have said, the California Supreme Court has never prohibited adjustment of the lodestar on this basis.

*Lealao, supra*, Cal.App.4th at 49 (emphasis added).

2. Apart from the *Lealao* holding, judicial calculations of the lodestar as reflected in *Laffitte* exemplify the rejection of this Court's *Serrano III* and *Ketchum* instructions.

The lodestar calculation is no longer an effort to determine whether all hours claimed were necessary; whether hours

have been padded; or whether specific legal services have been performed at a reasonable rates.

(a) Class actions have placed unique pressure on the judiciary to find ways to circumvent *Serrano III/Ketchum*-compliant lodestar calculations.

The class action experiment of delegating to the trial court judge the dual roles of fiduciary protector of the class's recovery and neutral fact finder has not worked in the real world. It places impossible demands on the trial court judge to simultaneously assume the conflicting roles of impartial judge and class advocate. Although this problem was recognized early in the development of the class action experiment, it has been ignored.

The dilemma thereby created for the Court finds the judge playing "devil's advocate" on behalf of the disinterested defendants, while at the same time attempting to exercise his impartiality in making a just determination of reasonable fees. To require the judge to occupy an adversary position during the fee proceedings is highly inconsistent with his acknowledged duty to act as an impartial arbitrator.

*Haas v. Pittsburgh National Bank, et al.*, 77 F.R.D. 382, 383 (W.D. Pa. Dec. 7, 1977) (emphasis added).

(b) Overworked judges and understaffed trial courts exacerbate the problem.

The increasing demands on the judiciary in an increasingly litigious society have made *Serrano III/Ketchum*-compliant lodestar calculations unworkable for busy trial court judges.

The lodestar approach is a time-intensive procedure and trial court time is a limited commodity.

It adds to the work load of already overworked district courts.

(*Lealao, supra*, 82 Cal.App.4th at at 31; emphasis added.)

The integrity of the fee award process has given way to clearing the court's docket.

No matter how virtuous the judge, the fact remains that courts are overworked, they have limited access to quality information, and they have an overwhelming incentive to clear their docket. They cannot reliably police the day-to-day interests of absent class members.

Samuel Issacharoff, *Class Action Conflicts*, 30 U.C. DAVIS L. REV. 805, 829 (Spring 1997) (emphasis added).

(i) Trial court judges are not equipped to handle the review of millions of dollars of legal bills from multiple law firms and lawyers claiming thousands (indeed tens of thousands) of hours of legal services rendered. The way it works now, the larger the fee, practically speaking, the less likely it is that the fee request will be scrutinized by the court.

Yet the typical judicial inquiry into these matters is superficial at best.

Jonathan R. Macey & Geoffrey P. Miller, *The Plaintiffs' Attorney's Role in Class Action and Derivative Litigation: Economic Analysis and Recommendations for Reform*, 58 Univ. Chic. L. Rev. 1, 52 (No. 1, Winter 1991).



(ii) Lodestar scrutiny of the highest quality can be done without imposing a burden on busy courts. (See pages 48 through 49, *infra*.)

(c) The theory of the representative class plaintiff as protector of the class's interest:

A better safeguard for protecting the interests of the putative class is the *ongoing* supervision of an independent class representative.

....

"In this way the representative can watch out for the interests of the class should the attorney be blinded by more selfish motives."

(*Apple Computer, Inc. v. The Superior Court of Los Angeles*, 126 Cal.App.4th 1253, 1268, 1272-73 (citation omitted) [24 Cal.Rptr. 3d 818] (2d App. Dist., Div. 1, Feb. 17, 2005)),

has not succeeded in practice.

The representative plaintiffs' role is merely the person in whose name the class action complaint is filed. Indeed, oftentimes it is the lawyer who seeks out a client rather than the other way around. The representative plaintiff, although formally retaining the law firm, has no incentive to monitor legal services since the class will pay the bill.

As one court has noted, the representative plaintiff is, in reality, a "cat's paw" for the plaintiffs' lawyers.

[The special master] placed little weight on the contingent fee agreements between the lawyers

and the "clients" (the named plaintiffs in the class actions), recognizing that named plaintiffs are usually cat's paws of the class lawyers.

*In re Trans Union Corp. Privacy Litig.*, 629 F.3d 741, 744 (7th Cir. Jan. 14, 2011) (emphasis added).

**D. Avoiding the Requirements of *Serrano III* and *Ketchum* Has Resulted in a Set of Holdings Antithetical to *Serrano III/Ketchum's* Judicial Responsibilities.**

1. The no "second major litigation" rationale.

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