SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AUG 2 6 2015

MARK LAFFITTE, et al.,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

Deputy

VS.

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC., et al.,

Defendants and Respondents,

DAVID BRENNAN,

Plaintiff and Appellant.

Court of Appeal of the State of California 2nd Civil No. B249253 Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles The Honorable Mary H. Strobel, Judge Presiding

Civil Case No. BC321317 [related to BC455499 and BC377930]

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC. AND AFFILIATES

STATEMENT OF POSITION

The attorneys' fee at issue here does not directly concern the respondent/defendant Robert Half entities. Section III.C.2 of the settlement agreement here provides that any difference between the maximum fee allowable (\$6,333,333.33) and the fee actually awarded reverts to the settlement class members. (2 RA 436-37.) No matter how this case is decided, Robert Half recoups nothing, and the substantive terms of the settlement with respect to Robert Half remain unchanged. (2 RA 446-48 (sections III.G.7.c and III.G.9).)¹ Robert Half therefore will not address the appellant/objector's contentions about the proper fee to class counsel.

Robert Half nevertheless offers this short statement to make two points.

First, Robert Half suggests that the court of appeal's order should be affirmed to bring this lawsuit to closure. This case was filed on September 10, 2004, and (although stayed for part of the time since then) it approaches its 11-year anniversary. Throughout more than a decade of highly contested litigation, plaintiffs advanced their arguments, Robert Half

¹ The settlement's terms thus reinforce normal principles of law: If a class-action fee award is reversed, that reversal normally leaves intact the underlying settlement itself. *See, e.g., Dunk v. Ford Motor Co.*, 48 Cal. App. 4th 1794, 1810 (1996) (reversing the fee and remanding on the sole issue of fees); *In re Vitamin Cases*, 110 Cal. App. 4th 1041, 1061 (2003) (remanding, limited to the issue of fees, so that the trial court could better explain its reasoning in setting fees).

responded and advanced its arguments, and the controlling legal principles evolved in several key Supreme Court and appellate cases.² Eventually Robert Half (still believing firmly that it would prevail at trial and through any appeal), thought that the lawsuit should be resolved so it could bring finality to the issues surrounding the litigation and concentrate fully on its core business. The settlement eventually was struck (after two failed mediations, as explained below). This appeal unfortunately prolongs a contentious dispute still more.

Second, Robert Half must and does respond to appellant/objector's insinuation that the settlement was collusive. Nothing is further from the truth. The parties conducted one mediation before noted mediator Jeff Krivis on August 10, 2010. It failed. (1 RA 16, 25, 38; 2 RA 412, 420; 3 RA 670, 674-75.) The parties later convened a second

² See, e.g., Harris v. Superior Court, 53 Cal. 4th 170, 186-87 (2011) (employees' exempt status depends on their actual duties, not their generic "role"); Brinker Rest. Corp. v. Superior Court, 53 Cal. 4th 1004, 1023-24 (2012) ("When evidence or legal issues germane to the certification question bear as well on aspects of the merits, a court may properly evaluate them."); see also Mora v. Big Lots Stores, Inc., 194 Cal. App. 4th 496, 508 (2011) (affirming denial of certification; "[W]ide store-to-store variation exists in the types of work performed and amounts of time per workweek spent by managers on different activities "); Soderstedt v. CBIZ S. Cal., LLC, 197 Cal. App. 4th 133, 151-52 (2011) (affirming denial of certification; "[T]he availability of the administrative exemption defense would involve individualized inquiries in view of the evidence showing the Associates' and Senior Associates' different tasks and responsibilities."); Keller v. Tuesday Morning, Inc., 179 Cal. App. 4th 1389, 1396 (2009) (affirming decertification: "[T]he time spent in a managerial duty is an individual inquiry.").

mediation before another noted mediator, David Rotman, on June 18, 2012. It failed, too. (1 RA 17, 25, 38; 2 RA 413, 420; 3 RA 670, 674-75.)

Mediator Rotman persisted in the days that followed, however, and on July 5, 2012, he finally produced an agreement both parties accepted.

(See 1 RA 17, 25; 2 RA 413, 420.) The trial court rejected appellant/objector's contention of collusion (see RT 35, 62, 63; 3 RA 726), the court of appeal found no evidence of collusion (see Laffitte v. Robert Half Int'l, Inc., 231 Cal. App. 4th 860, 882 (2014)), and more than substantial evidence supports that finding. The history shows — and undersigned counsel unequivocally represents to this Court — that the settlement here was reached entirely at arm's length and (contrary to any assertion otherwise) without any diminished contentiousness between the parties.

Robert Half therefore suggests that the settlement be approved.

Respectfully submitted,

DATED: August 26, 2015 PAUL HASTINGS LLP

By: M. Kirby C. Wilcox

Attorneys for Defendants and Respondents

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC.; ROBERT HALF OF CALIFORNIA, INC.; ROBERT HALF INCORPORATED; and ROBERT HALF CORPORATION